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            to three friends:

             

            Soledad Álvarez,

            Tony Raful, and

            Bernardo Vega

         

      

   


   
      
         
            Harsh times they were!

            —saint teresa of ávila

         

      

   


   
      
         
            I’d never heard of this bloody place Guatemala until I was in my seventy-ninth year.

            —winston churchill
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         Though they are unknown to the broader public, and occupy a minor place in the history books, the people with the greatest influence over the destiny of Guatemala and, in a way, over the entirety of Central America in the twentieth century, were Edward L. Bernays and Sam Zemurray, two men who could not be more dissimilar from one another in terms of origins, temperament, and vocation.

         Zemurray was born in 1877, not far from the Black Sea, and being a Jew in a time of vicious pogroms across Russian Territory, he fled to the United States, where he arrived along with one of his aunts at fifteen years of age. They took refuge in the home of a relative in Selma, Alabama. Edward L. Bernays was also from a family of Jewish immigrants, but they were wealthy, from the upper class, and boasted an illustrious figure among their numbers: Bernays’s uncle, Sigmund Freud. Putting aside their Judaism—and neither was particularly devout—the two of them were quite different. Edward L. Bernays styled himself a sort of father of public relations, and if he didn’t invent the profession, he did take it (at Guatemala’s expense) 4to unanticipated heights, making it the central political, social, and economic weapon of the twentieth century. This much there was no denying, even if his egoism compelled him to pathological degrees of exaggeration. They met for the first time in 1948, and began working together that same year. Sam Zemurray asked for an appointment, and Bernays received him in his small office in the heart of Manhattan. Most likely, the enormous and badly dressed brute, with his five-o’-clock shadow, open collar, faded blazer, and work boots made a poor impression on Bernays, known for elegant suits, scrupulous diction, Yardley cologne, and aristocratic manners.

         “I tried to read your book Propaganda, but I didn’t get much out of it,” Zemurray told the publicist by way of introduction. He spoke a labored English, as though hesitating over every word.

         “But the writing is quite plain, any literate person can grasp it,” Bernays objected.

         “Could be it’s my fault,” the other man admitted, not discomfited in the least. “Truth is, I’m not much of a reader. I hardly went to school back in Russia and I never completely got English, as you can tell. It’s even worse when I write letters, they come out filled with misspellings. I’m more interested in action than the life of the mind.”

         “Well, if that’s the case, I’m not sure what I can do for you, Mr. Zemurray,” Bernays said, making as if to stand up.

         “I won’t waste much of your time,” the other interjected. “I’m head of a company that brings bananas from Central America to the United States.”

         “United Fruit?” Bernays asked, examining his shabby visitor with greater curiosity than before.

         “Seems we have a bad reputation in the United States and Central America. In the countries where we operate, in other words,” Zemurray continued with a shrug. “And word is, you’re the man who can fix that. I’m here to hire you as the company’s director of public relations. Or something along those lines, you feel free to choose the title. And the salary as well, to save us time.”

         Such were the beginnings of the relationship between two men who were poles apart, a refined publicist and aspiring academic and 5intellectual and the boorish self-made impresario Sam Zemurray, who had started out with savings of one hundred fifty dollars and had built a company that made him a millionaire, despite his appearance. He hadn’t invented the banana, of course, but it was thanks to him that in the United States, where few people had tried that exotic fruit, it now formed part of millions of Americans’ diet and was beginning to make inroads into Europe and other parts of the world. How had he managed it? It is hard to say objectively, because in Sam Zemurray’s life, fact and legend mingle. This brash entrepreneur seemed less the product of the American business world than of the pages of an adventure story. And unlike Bernays, he wasn’t at all ostentatious, and rarely spoke about his life.

         In the course of his journeys, Zemurray had discovered the banana tree in the forests of Central America, and with a fortuitous instinct about the commercial potential of its fruit, he began transporting it in motorboats to New Orleans and other North American cities. It was successful from the beginning. So much so that growing demand turned him from a mere vendor into a cultivator and international banana producer. This was the beginning of United Fruit, a company which, by the beginning of the 1950s, extended its reach into Honduras, Guatemala, Nicaragua, El Salvador, Costa Rica, Colombia, and a number of Caribbean islands, generating more dollars than the vast majority of firms in the United States or in the rest of the world. The empire was unquestionably the work of a single man: Sam Zemurray. And now many hundreds of people depended on him.

         To achieve all this, he had worked from dawn to dusk and dusk to dawn, traveling throughout Central America and the Caribbean in dire conditions, wrangling over terrain at gun-or knife-point with other speculators like himself, sleeping hundreds of nights in open fields, devoured by mosquitoes, waylaid more than once by the ravages of swamp fever, bribing authorities and hoodwinking peasants and ignorant natives, doing deals with corrupt dictators whose greed or stupidity had gradually enabled him to acquire properties whose area in hectares now exceeded that of a respectably sized European country, creating thousands of jobs, laying down railroads, opening 6ports and connecting barbarism with civilization. At least, this was what Sam Zemurray said when forced to defend himself from the attacks leveled at United Fruit—La Frutera, which people all over Central America had christened the Octopus—attacks brought not just by the envious, but by his own North American competitors, rivals he’d never given a fair shake in a region where he exercised a tyrannical monopoly in the production and commercialization of the banana. His triumph was based, in the example of Guatemala, on absolute control of the country’s sole port to the Caribbean—Puerto Barrios—as well as of the electrical systems and the railway that spanned the coasts of two oceans, which belonged exclusively to his company.

         They were complete opposites, but they made a good team. Bernays helped a great deal to improve the company’s image in the United States, to make it presentable to the upper echelon of Washington politics, to build ties between it and the self-styled aristocrat millionaires of Boston. He had come to publicity indirectly, thanks to his good relations with a wide range of persons, especially diplomats, politicians, newspaper and radio and television station owners, businessmen, and high-level bankers. He was an intelligent, hardworking, likable man, and one of his first achievements was organizing a U.S. tour for Enrico Caruso, the celebrated Italian singer. Bernays’s open and refined manner, his culture, his accessible demeanor pleased people, and he gave the impression of being more important and influential than he was. Naturally, advertising and public relations had existed before his birth, but Bernays had raised the profession, which every company depended on but disdained, into a sophisticated intellectual discipline, an extension of sociology, economics, and politics. He gave lectures and classes at prestigious universities, published articles and books, presented his occupation as the most representative pursuit of the twentieth century, synonymous with modernity and progress. In Propaganda (1928), he had written a prophetic paragraph, which would, in a certain way, pass on to posterity: “The conscious and intelligent manipulation of the organized habits and opinions of the masses is an important element in democratic society. Those who manipulate this unseen mechanism of society constitute an invisible 7government which is the true ruling power of our country … it is the intelligent minorities which need to make use of propaganda continuously and systematically.” Bernays would apply this thesis, which certain critics considered the very negation of democracy itself, with great effectiveness in Guatemala a decade after beginning work as public relations consultant for United Fruit.

         His advice did much to clean up the company’s image and garner it support and influence in the political world. The Octopus had never bothered to present its considerable industrial and commercial activities as something beneficial to society in general, let alone the “savage countries” where it operated and which—according to Bernays—it was helping to emerge from barbarism, creating jobs for thousands of citizens, raising their standard of living, and in this way bringing them into the fold of modernity, progress, the twentieth century, civilization. Bernays convinced Zemurray that the company should build schools in its dominions, take Catholic priests and Protestant preachers onto the plantations, set up first-aid centers and other projects of that ilk, give scholarships and travel grants to students and teachers, and he would publicize all this as incontrovertible evidence of the modernizing influence they were exerting. At the same time, through rigorous planning and the help of scientists and technicians, he promoted the consumption of the banana at breakfast and all hours of the day as indispensable for health and the formation of strong, athletic citizens. It was he who brought to the United States the Brazilian singer and dancer Carmen Miranda (the Chiquita Banana girl of stage and screen), who would prove a hit with her hats of banana bunches and would use her songs to popularize, with remarkable efficiency, the fruit that the advertiser’s exertions had made a staple in North American homes.

         Bernays also extended and deepened United Fruit’s political influence in Boston. The richest of the rich in that New England city where the company began had more than money and power; they had prejudices, specifically against Jews like Zemurray, who had won control of the company from the Brahmins, and so it was no mean feat to get Henry Cabot Lodge to accept a post on the board of United Fruit, 8or for John Foster Dulles and his brother Allen from the white-shoe legal firm Sullivan & Cromwell in New York to agree to work with the company. But Bernays knew that money opens doors and that not even racial prejudice can resist it, and he managed to cement these strained ties after the so-called October Revolution of 1944 in Guatemala, when United Fruit started to sense danger in the wings. Bernays’s ideas and relationships would be extremely useful in toppling the alleged “communist government” in Guatemala and replacing it with a more democratic one—that is, a more docile one, more congenial to their interests.

         Alarms began going off during the mandate of Juan José Arévalo (1945–1950). Not because Professor Arévalo, defender of the muddled ideal of “spiritual socialism,” had taken action against United Fruit. But he did oversee the passage of a labor law that allowed workers and peasants to form unions, and this had never been permitted in the company’s domains up to that time. Zemurray and the other directors caught wind of it. In a heated meeting of the board in Boston, it was agreed that Bernays would visit Guatemala, assess the situation and future prospects, and get a sense of how dangerous events there could be under the first government in the history of the country to emerge from truly free elections.

         Bernays spent two weeks in Guatemala, staying at the Hotel Panamerican in the center of the city, not far from the National Palace. As he didn’t speak Spanish, he relied on translators to interview landowners, soldiers, bankers, members of congress, policemen, foreigners who had long resided in the country, union leaders, journalists, and employees of the United States Embassy and of United Fruit. He did his job well, despite suffering from the heat and the mosquitoes.

         At another meeting of the board in Boston, he offered personal reflections on what, in his judgment, was taking place in Guatemala. He relied on notes for his presentation, and spoke with the ease of a good professional and without an ounce of cynicism:

         “The danger that Guatemala should turn communist and become a beachhead for a Soviet infiltration of Central America that would 9pose a threat to the Panama Canal is remote and for the moment, I would say, inexistent,” he assured them. “Few people in Guatemala know what Marxism or communism are, even among the stray elements calling themselves communists who founded the Escuela Claridad to disseminate revolutionary ideas. The danger isn’t real, but it is convenient for us that people believe it exists, above all in the United States. The real danger is another one. I have spoken with President Arévalo and his closest advisers in person. He is as anticommunist as you and I. Proof is that the president and his supporters have insisted that the new Constitution of Guatemala forbid the existence of political parties with international connections. They’ve declared on numerous occasions that ‘communism is the greatest threat faced by democracy,’ and they closed down the aforementioned Escuela Claridad and deported its founders. And yet, contradictory as it may seem to you, Arévalo’s boundless love for democracy represents a serious threat for United Fruit. This, gentlemen, is something good for you to know, but not to say aloud.”

         He smiled and looked theatrically at all the members of the board, some of whom smiled back politely. Then, after a brief pause, he continued:

         “Arévalo would like to make Guatemala a democracy like the United States, a country he admires and considers a model. Dreamers are dangerous, and it is in this sense that Dr. Arévalo is dangerous. His project has not the least chance of being realized. How can you turn a country of three million inhabitants, most of them illiterate Indians who have just emerged from paganism or are still in the grips of it, where there must be three or four shamans for every doctor—how can you turn such a place into a modern democracy? A place where, moreover, a white minority made up of racist landowners and speculators detests the Indians and treats them like slaves. The military men I’ve spoken to seem to be living in the nineteenth century as well, and could stage a coup at any moment. President Arévalo has suffered a number of military rebellions already, but he’s managed to quash them. Now then. Though his efforts to make his country into a 10modern democracy strike me as vain, let’s not deceive ourselves: any advancement he makes in this direction will be highly detrimental to us.

         “You realize that, don’t you?” he went on, after another pause to take a few sips of water. “Let me give you a few examples. Arévalo has approved a labor law that permits the formation of unions in businesses and farms and allows workers and peasants to join. And he has drafted an antimonopoly law based on already existing legislation in the United States. You can imagine what a measure to ensure equal competition would mean for United Fruit: if it didn’t ruin us completely, at the least we’d be looking at a major decline in revenues. Our profits are not just the result of our hard work, our commitment, the money we spend to prevent diseases, or the forest we clear to plant more banana trees. They also come from our monopoly, which keeps competitors away from our territories, and the privileged conditions we work under, with no taxes, no unions, none of the risks and dangers those things imply. The problem isn’t just Guatemala, which is a small part of the world we operate in. It is the contagion spreading to other countries in Central America and to Colombia if this idea of becoming a ‘modern democracy’ were to catch on there. United Fruit would be forced to deal with unions and international competition, to pay taxes, to guarantee health insurance and offer retirement plans for workers and their families, and it would be subject to the hatred and envy prosperous, well-run companies inevitably arouse in poor countries—especially if they’re American. The danger, gentlemen, lies in setting a bad example. Not so much communism as democracy in Guatemala. Though it will likely never materialize, any achievements in this direction will mean a loss and a step backward for us.”

         He stopped speaking and examined the perturbed or inquisitive faces of the board members. Sam Zemurray, the only one not wearing a tie, looking out of place among the elegant gentlemen seated together at the long table, said:

         “Fine, you’ve given us the diagnosis. Now how do we cure the disease?” 11

         “I wanted to let you catch your breath before continuing,” Bernays joked, taking another sip of water. “Now I will discuss the remedies, Sam. It will be a long, complicated, costly process. But it will kill the infection at the root. And that could mean another fifty years of expansion, profitability, tranquility for United Fruit.”

         Edward L. Bernays knew what he was talking about. The treatment meant working simultaneously on the United States government and North American public opinion. Neither of them had the least idea that Guatemala existed, let alone that it constituted a problem. That was, in principle, a good thing. “We are the ones who have to enlighten the government and public opinion about Guatemala, and to do it in such a way as to convince them the problem is so serious, so grave, that it must be taken care of immediately. How? With subtlety and good timing. Organizing things so that public opinion, which is essential in a democracy, pressures the government to act in order to head off a serious threat. What threat? The very same one I have just told you Guatemala doesn’t represent: the Soviet Trojan horse sneaking through the U.S.A.’s back door. How do we convince the public that Guatemala is a country in which communism is already a reality, one that will soon become the first satellite of the Soviet Union in the new world if Washington fails to act? With the press, radio, and television, the main resources that inform and orient the citizenry, in free countries as well as enslaved ones. We must open the eyes of the press to the danger looming just two hours by plane from the United States, right on the doorstep of the Panama Canal.

         “It would be best if all this were to occur naturally, without anyone planning or steering it, especially not one of us, with a stake in the matter. The idea that Guatemala is on the verge of passing into Soviet hands shouldn’t come from the Republicans, from the right-leaning outlets in the United States, it would be better if it came up in the liberal papers, the ones the Democrats read and listen to, the center, even the left. That’s the way to get the broader public’s ear. All this will seem more realistic if we have the other side doing our work for us.” 12

         Sam Zemurray interrupted him to ask:

         “So what are we going to do to convince those bullshitting hacks on the left?”

         Bernays smiled and paused again. Like a skilled actor, he looked solemnly at each of the members of the board.

         “That’s why you have the king of public relations on your side. Me,” he joked, devoid of all modesty, as if he were wasting his time trying to convince this group of gentlemen that the earth was round. “This, gentlemen, is the point of having so many friends among the owners and managers of America’s newspapers and radio and television stations.”

         They would have to work nimbly, with discretion, to keep the media from feeling used. Everything needed to appear spontaneous, like a natural process, to give the appearance that the free press, with its progressive agenda, was discovering these “scoops” and sharing them with the world on its own. They would have to carefully massage the journalists’ normally fevered egos.

         When Bernays was done talking, Sam Zemurray asked for the floor again:

         “Please, don’t tell us how much this escapade you’ve just described in such detail is going to cost us. We’ve already had enough trauma for one day.”

         “I’ll leave that aside for now,” Bernays agreed. “What’s important is that you all remember one thing: the company will earn far more than it could ever spend on an operation like this if we manage to delay for another fifty years Guatemala’s becoming a modern democracy of the kind President Arévalo’s dreaming of.”

         What Edward L. Bernays proposed at that memorable board meeting of the United Fruit Company in Boston was carried out to the letter, confirming, it must be said in passing, his contention that the twentieth century would mark the advent of propaganda as a basic instrument of power and of the manipulation of public opinion in democratic societies as well as authoritarian ones.

         Little by little, toward the end of Juan José Arévalo’s mandate, but much more during the government of Colonel Jacobo Árbenz 13Guzmán, Guatemala began appearing frequently in the American press, in reports in The New York Times, The Washington Post, or Time, which described the growing danger to the free world of Soviet influence in that country, whose successive governments, though they worked to present an appearance of democracy, were infiltrated by communists, fellow travelers, and useful idiots. Their methods stood at odds with the rule of law, pan-Americanism, private property, and the free market, and stoked class war, hatred of social distinctions, and hostility against independent businesses.

         Newspapers and magazines in the United States that had never before taken an interest in Guatemala, Central America, or even Latin America as a whole sent correspondents to Guatemala, thanks to Bernays’s connections and his agile maneuvering. They were lodged at the Hotel Panamerican, where the bar became a hub for international journalists who would go there to receive file folders filled with documentation confirming what they’d been told—that unionization was becoming an instrument of conflict, and private businesses were under siege—and they got interviews, arranged or facilitated by Bernays, with landowners, entrepreneurs, priests (even the archbishop himself), journalists, opposition leaders, pastors, and professionals who gave detailed accounts of how the country was becoming a Soviet satellite that international communism intended to use to undermine the influence and interests of the United States throughout Latin America.

         At a certain point—just when Jacobo Árbenz’s government had initiated its land reform program—Bernays’s machinations with the owners of the newspapers and magazines were no longer needed: these were the days of the Cold War, and there was now real worry in political, business, and cultural circles in the United States. On their own, the media wanted correspondents on the ground to tell them about the situation in that tiny nation infiltrated by communism. The pinnacle of this had been a dispatch published in 1950 by the United Press, written by the British journalist Kenneth de Courcy, which announced that the Soviet Union was intending to build a submarine base in Guatemala. Life magazine, the New York Herald Tribune, the 14Evening Standard in London, Harper’s Magazine, the Chicago Tribune, Visión (in Spanish), The Christian Science Monitor, and countless other publications devoted page after page to revealing, through concrete facts and testimonials, Guatemala’s gradual slide into communism and submission to Soviet rule. There was no conspiracy: propaganda had simply imposed an amenable fiction atop reality, and it was this that became the subject of the benighted North American journalists’ reports, and few of them ever realized they were marionettes in the hands of a brilliant puppet master. This explains what drove a personage as distinguished on the liberal left as Flora Lewis of The New York Times to write her fulsome accolades for the American ambassador in Guatemala, John Emil Peurifoy. Then again, this was the low point of McCarthyism and the Cold War between the United States and Russia, and that helped render this fiction plausible.

         Sam Zemurray died in November of 1961, shortly after his eighty-fourth birthday. With his millions, he had retired to Louisiana, and still couldn’t quite believe that everything Edward L. Bernays had planned in that faraway meeting of the United Fruit board in Boston had come so precisely to fruition. Nor did he suspect that despite winning that particular battle, La Frutera, as it was known to the south, had begun to disintegrate, and that in a few years its president would end his own life, that the company would then disappear, and that nothing would be left of it but memories, bad and worse.
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         Miss guatemala’s mother came from a family of Italian immigrants named Parravicini. After two generations, the surname was shortened and Hispanicized. When the young jurist, law professor, and attorney Arturo Borrero Lamas asked for the young Marta Parra’s hand in marriage, rumors started circulating in Guatemala’s high society because, to all appearances, this offspring of Italian tavern keepers, bakers, and pastry chefs failed to measure up to the status of the handsome young man whose venerable family, professional prestige, and fortune made him the favorite of all the well-bred girls of marrying age. With time, the gossip died down, and when the wedding was held in the cathedral, officiated by the city’s archbishop, nearly everyone who mattered was in attendance, some as invited guests, others as onlookers. The eternal president, General Jorge Ubico Castañeda, was there, arm in arm with his gracious wife, in an elegant uniform spangled with medals, and amid the multitude’s applause, they had themselves photographed with the bride and groom standing before the facade.

         With regard to descendants, the marriage was an unfortunate 16one. Martita Parra became pregnant each year, but however much she took care of herself, she only gave birth to a series of skeletal boys who emerged half dead and succumbed in a matter of weeks or days, in spite of the best efforts of the city’s midwives, gynecologists, and even witches and shamans. After five years, these endless frustrations abated, and Martita Borrero Parra came into the world. Even in the crib, she was beautiful, lively, and vivacious, and they nicknamed her Miss Guatemala. Unlike her brothers, she survived. And how!

         She was born scrawny, nothing but skin and bones. What people noticed, even from those very early days when they were having Masses said for the newborn so her fate would be different from her brothers’, was the smoothness of her skin, her delicate traits, her big eyes and that tranquil gaze, firm and penetrating, which settled on people and things alike as though determined to engrave them in her memory for all time. A disconcerting, frightening stare. Símula, the K’iche’ Maya Indian who would be her nursemaid, prophesied: “This child will have powers!”

         Miss Guatemala’s mother, Marta Parra de Borrero, got little joy from her daughter, the only one of her children to survive. Not because she died soon afterward—no, she would live to ninety and end her days in a nursing home with little idea of what was going on around her—but because, after the girl was born, she was left weary, mute, depressed, touched (as they used to say then to speak euphemistically of the mad). She spent whole days immobile at home, not uttering a word; her maids Patrocinio and Juana fed her by hand and massaged her to keep her legs from atrophying; she would only emerge from her silence in occasional fits of tears that ended in exhausted oblivion. Símula was the only one she communicated with, in gestures, or else the servant simply guessed her whims. With time, Dr. Borrero Lamas forgot he had a wife; days would pass, then weeks, without his entering her bedroom to kiss her on the forehead, and every hour he wasn’t at his office, pleading before the court, or giving classes at San Carlos University he devoted to Martita, whom he fussed over and adored from the day of her birth. The girl grew up by her father’s side. On the weekends, when his home was filled with 17highborn friends—judges, landholders, politicians, diplomats—who came to play rocambor, a card game popular a century before, he would let Martita run free among his guests. Her father liked to watch how she pinned his friends in her verdigris eyes, as if determined to extract from them some secret. Anyone could pat or tickle her, but with the exception of her father, she was reluctant to respond with a kiss on the cheek or any other show of affection in return.

         Later, recollecting those first years of her life, Martita had hardly any memory—as if it were a flame that flared up and died out—of the political turmoil that overtook the conversations of those gentlemen who came by on the weekends to play a card game from another era. She heard confused acknowledgments, around 1944, of the unpopularity of General Jorge Ubico Castañeda, the grandee strewn with medals and gold braid, and now civilian and military movements and student strikes were working to depose him. They achieved this in the famous October Revolution of that same year, when another military junta rose up, presided over this time by General Federico Ponce Vaides, whom the protestors would overthrow in turn. Then, at last, there were elections. The upper-crust devotees of rocambor were terrified that Professor Juan José Arévalo might win; he had just returned from exile in Argentina, and the men said his “spiritual socialism” (what might that mean?) would bring catastrophe to Guatemala: the Indians would raise their heads and start killing decent people, the communists would take over the landholders’ fields and would send the children from good families off to Russia to be sold as slaves. When they said these things, Martita would always wait for the reaction of one of the good men who attended these weekends filled with rocambor and political gossip: Dr. Efrén García Ardiles. He was handsome, with bright eyes and long hair, and he often laughed, calling his fellow visitors paranoid cavemen. In his judgment, Professor Arévalo was more of an anticommunist than any of them, and his “spiritual socialism” was merely a symbolic way of saying that he wished to make Guatemala into a modern, democratic country, lifting it out of the poverty and feudal primitivism it was mired in. Martita remembered the arguments that arose: the patricians browbeat 18Dr. García Ardiles, calling him a red, an anarchist, a communist. And when she asked her father why that man was arguing with all the rest of them, her father would respond: “Efrén is a good doctor and an excellent friend. It’s too bad he’s harebrained, and a leftist!” This made Martita curious, and she decided one day to ask Dr. García Ardiles what it all—leftism and communism—was about.

         By then she was attending the Colegio Belga-Guatemalteco (Congregation of the Holy Family of Helmet), where all the finer families of Guatemala sent their girls to be educated by Flemish nuns, and she was winning awards for academic excellence and getting top marks on her exams. It was no great effort for her, she just needed to concentrate a bit, drawing on her abundant natural intelligence, knowing that As on her report card would bring her father great pleasure. How happy Dr. Borrero Lamas felt on the last day of school, when his daughter climbed the stage to receive recognition for her application and her impeccable behavior! And how they applauded the girl, the nuns and everyone else in the audience.

         Did Martita have a happy childhood? She asked herself this many times in the years to follow, and she answered yes, if happy meant a tranquil, ordered life, without upsets, as a girl surrounded by servants and pampered and protected by her father. But the lack of a mother’s love saddened her. Only once a day—it was her hardest moment—did she visit that lady who always lay in bed and paid her no mind, even though she’d given birth to her. Símula would take the girl to give her a kiss before bed. She didn’t like this visit, the woman struck her as more dead than alive; she looked at her with indifference, offered no response to the kiss, there were times when she would even yawn through it. Martita didn’t especially enjoy her friends, the birthday parties she would attend with Símula as a chaperone, or her first dances when she was in secondary school and the boys were already flattering the girls, sending them notes and pairing off with their first loves. She preferred the weekend evenings that stretched on into the late hours and the gentlemen who played rocambor. Above all, she enjoyed her private talks with Dr. Efrén García Ardiles, whom she would pepper with questions about politics. He told her that, despite 19the patricians’ complaints, Juan José Arévalo was doing right, trying to finally achieve justice in the country, especially among the Indians, who were the great majority among Guatemala’s three million citizens. Thanks to President Arévalo, he said, Guatemala was finally becoming a democracy.

         Martita’s life took a tremendous turn at the end of 1949, on the day she turned fifteen. The entirety of the old neighborhood of San Sebastián where she lived took part, in a way, in the celebration. Her father threw her a quinceañera party of the kind typical for daughters of the better families in Guatemala, to signify her entrance into society. The house, with its spacious vestibule, ironwork bars on the windows, and lush garden in the heart of the colonial quarter, was decorated with flowers and wreaths and filled with light. The archbishop himself held a Mass in the cathedral, and Martita attended in a white dress with tulle frilling and a bouquet of orange blossoms in her hand. The whole family was there, uncles and aunts and cousins she was seeing then for the first time. There were fireworks in the street and a huge piñata full of candies and dried fruits that the young guests fought over joyfully. The maids and waiters looked after the attendees in folk costume, the women with colorful huipils embroidered with geometric figures, pleated skirts, and dark sashes, and the men in white pants, bright shirts, and straw hats. The Equestrian Club provided the banquet and hired two orchestras, a traditional one with nine marimba players and a more modern one composed of twelve music teachers who played the dances fashionable at the time: the bamba, the waltz, blues, tango, corrido, guaracha, rumba, and bolero. In the middle of it all, Martita, the honoree, fainted while dancing with the son of the United States ambassador, Richard Patterson Jr. She was carried off to the bedroom and Dr. Galván, who was there to accompany his daughter, Martita’s friend Dolores, took her temperature and blood pressure and rubbed her down with alcohol. She soon regained consciousness. It was nothing, the old doctor said, a sudden drop in blood pressure, the fault of her overexcitement that day. But she spent the remainder of the evening maudlin and absent.

         When the guests had gone and the night was well along, Símula 20approached Dr. Borrero. She whispered they should talk alone. He took her to his study. “Dr. Galván is wrong,” the servant said. “A drop in blood pressure, how ridiculous. I’m sorry to put it this way, Doctor, but it’s best I just come out with it: the girl is expecting.” Now it was the master of the house who went faint. He stumbled over to a chair; the world, the shelves full of books, spun around him like a carousel.

         Despite her father’s pleas, demands, and threats of the worst punishments imaginable, Martita, showing signs of the enormous character that would take her far in life, roundly refused to say who was the father of that child now forming inside her womb. Dr. Borrero Lamas nearly lost his senses. He was deeply Catholic, sanctimonious, even, and yet he considered agreeing to an abortion when Símula, seeing his desperation, told him she could take the girl to a lady specialized in “sending the unborn to limbo.” But after turning the matter over in his mind and consulting with his friend and confessor, the Jesuit Father Ulloa, he chose against exposing his daughter to such a risk. Nor was he willing to go to hell for committing this mortal sin.

         The knowledge that Martita had ruined her life tore him to pieces. He was forced to disenroll her from the Colegio Belga-Guatemalteco because the girl vomited constantly and fainted. Otherwise, the nuns would discover her pregnancy and naturally a scandal would ensue. It hurt the lawyer to realize that his daughter’s lapse would preclude her finding a suitable husband. What serious young man from a good family and with a bright future ahead of him would allow a fallen woman to take his name? Neglecting his firm and his classes, he devoted the days and nights following the discovery of his daughter’s pregnancy to trying to ascertain who the father was. No one had been courting Martita. A dedicated student, she hadn’t seemed interested in flirting with young men like other girls her age. Wasn’t that strange? Martita had never had a sweetheart. He had kept a close eye on her comings and goings outside school hours. Who had gotten her pregnant, where, how? The thing that seemed impossible at first slowly wormed its way into his mind, and he decided to confront it, at once believing and disbelieving. He loaded five bullets into his antique Smith & Wesson revolver, which he had used just a few times, for target practice at the 21Hunting, Sport Shooting, and Fishermen’s Club, or bored on one of the hunts his friends dragged him off to.

         He showed up unannounced at the house where Dr. Efrén García Ardiles resided with his aging mother in the neighborhood bordering San Francisco. His old friend, who had just returned from the office where he passed his afternoons—he worked in the morning at San Juan de Dios General Hospital—received him immediately. He took him to a small, shelf-lined room filled with primitive K’iche’ Maya objects, masks, and burial urns.

         “Efrén, you’re going to answer me a question,” Dr. Borrero Lamas said very slowly, as if he had to extract the words from his mouth one by one. “We went to school together with the Marists, and despite your eccentric political ideas, I consider you my closest friend. In the name of our longstanding friendship, I am hoping you won’t lie to me. Are you the one who got my daughter pregnant?”

         He watched as Dr. Efrén García turned white as a sheet of paper. He opened and closed his mouth several times before responding. When he did, he stammered, and his hands shook:

         “I didn’t know she was pregnant, Arturo. Yes, it was me. It’s the worst thing I’ve done in my life. I will never stop regretting it, I swear to you.”

         “I came here to kill you, you son of a bitch, but you’re so repugnant, I can’t bring myself to do it.”

         And he began to cry. Sobs shook his chest, and tears washed down his face. They were together for nearly an hour, and when they said their goodbyes in the doorway, they neither shook hands nor clapped each other on the back, as was their custom.

         When he reached his home, Dr. Borrero Lamas walked straight to the bedroom where his daughter had been kept under lock and key since the day she fainted.

         He remained standing in the doorway as he spoke to his daughter, in a tone that didn’t admit reply:

         “I’ve spoken with Efrén and we’ve reached an agreement. He will marry you, so that the baby in your stomach will grow up with a good name, not like those whelps a dog gives birth to in the street. The 22marriage will be held at the estate in Chichicastenango. I will speak to Father Ulloa, who will officiate. There will be no guests. A notice will be printed in the paper, and afterward, announcements will be sent round. Up to that point, we shall go on pretending we are united as a family. Once you have married Efrén, I will not see you again, I will not concern myself with you, and I will look for a way to disinherit you. In the meanwhile, you will remain locked in this room and you will not set foot outside.”

         All that he said came to pass. The rushed marriage of Dr. Efrén García Ardiles with a girl of fifteen—twenty-eight years younger than he—gave rise to rumors and innuendo that circulated back and forth and held the whole of Guatemala City in suspense. Everyone knew Martita Borrero Parra was marrying because the doctor had gotten her pregnant, and this was unsurprising, coming from a trafficker in revolutionary ideas; and everyone sympathized with the upright Dr. Borrero Lamas, whom no one had since seen smile, or go to parties, or play rocambor.

         The wedding took place on a remote property of the bride’s father, a coffee farm on the outskirts of Chichicastenango, and he served as one of the witnesses; the others were workers from the fields, and since they were illiterate, they signed with an X or a simple downstroke before receiving a few quetzales in return. There was not even a glass of wine to toast to the married couple’s happiness.

         Bride and groom returned to Guatemala City and went straight to the house Efrén and his mother shared, and all the good families knew that Dr. Borrero, having fulfilled his promise, would never see his daughter again.

         In the middle of 1950, Martita gave birth to a boy who, at least officially, was born in the seventh month of her pregnancy.
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         “You’ve got to tame your nerves, one way or another,” Enrique said, rubbing his hands together. “Before I get started, these things always put me on edge. But when the moment arrives, I calm down and I take care of it, and that’s that. What about you? Does that happen with you?”

         “I’m the opposite,” the Dominican said, shaking his head. “I’m nervous when I wake up, when I go to sleep, when I get out of bed. When I have to act, I’m even more nervous. Being high-strung is just my natural state.”

         They were in the offices of the Dirección General de Seguridad, which took up one corner of the Palacio del Gobierno, and from its windows, they could see Constitution Plaza with its leafy trees and the facade of the Guatemala City Cathedral. It was a sunny, still-cloudless day, but the rain would come down that afternoon and would likely go on filling the streets with puddles and rills all through the night, just as it had all week. “

         The decision’s taken, the plans have been made, and the people who matter are committed. You’ve got the permits and tickets in your 24 pocket, for you and for the lady. Why should anything go wrong?” the other man said, talking very softly now. And smiling, though without a jot of humor, he changed the subject: “You know what’s good to calm your nerves?”

         “A nice swig of dry rum,” the Dominican said with a grin. “But at the whorehouse, not in this miserable office, with all these ears around us, that’s what they say where you come from when they’re talking about snitches, right? Ears! I like the sound of that. Let’s go to Gerona, to that place run by the gringa with the dye job.”

         Enrique looked at his watch:

         “It’s only four in the afternoon.” He looked dismayed. “It’ll be closed, it’s still early.”

         “We’ll kick the door down if we have to,” the Dominican said, standing up. “That’s all there is to it. Fate has chosen. We’re having a nice drink together to kill time. My treat.”

         As they were leaving, crossing the room full of desks, the civilians and soldiers stood to salute Enrique. He didn’t linger, and as he was out of uniform, limited himself to nodding at them briefly before departing. A car was waiting for them by one of the side doors, manned by the ugliest chauffeur in the world. He hurried them to their destination, the gringa’s whorehouse, which was closed as predicted. A lone street sweeper limped over to inform them that it only opened “when it was dark and rainy out.” But they knocked at the door all the same, and went on doing so harder and harder until they heard a clanking of keys and chains and it drew open slightly.

         “Gentlemen, already?” the woman with the still disheveled platinum-blond hair said, recognizing them with surprise. Her name was Miriam Ritcher, and she forced her accent a bit so she would sound like a foreigner. “The girls are either still asleep or having breakfast.”

         “We’re not here for the girls, Miriam, we’re here to have a drink,” Enrique said, cutting her off rudely. “Can we come in, yes or no?”

         “For you all, it’s always yes,” the gringa said, shrugging, resigned. She opened the door the rest of the way and stood back, curtsying, to let them through. “Gentlemen, after you.”

         At that hour, dim and empty, the bar room looked sadder, shabbier 25 than when the lights were up, the music loud, the boisterous clientele in attendance. Instead of pictures, the walls were lined with posters advertising liquor brands and the coastal rail line. The friends sat at the bar on two tall stools, lit their cigarettes, and smoked.

         “The usual?” the woman asked. She was wearing a housecoat and slippers. Arrayed this way, hair unkempt and without makeup, she looked a hundred years old.

         “The usual,” the Dominican joked. “And if it’s possible, a tasty gash to lick.”

         “You know quite well I don’t care for vulgarities,” the mistress of the house grumbled as she served their drinks.

         “Me neither,” Enrique said to his friend. “So show a bit more respect when you open your mouth.”

         They said nothing for a moment, and then Enrique asked suddenly:

         “I thought you were supposed to be Rosicrucian? What kind of religion allows you to talk all crass like that in front of a lady?”

         “Lady—I like that,” the woman said on her way out, not bothering to turn and look at them. She disappeared behind a door.

         The Dominican thought for a moment and shrugged.

         “I’m not even sure it’s a religion: maybe it’s just a philosophy. I met a wise man once, and they told me he was Rosicrucian. In Mexico, not long after I got there. Brother Cristóbal. He gave off this feeling of peace that I’ve never felt again. He spoke very calmly, slowly. And he seemed to be inspired by angels.”

         “What do you mean, inspired?” Enrique asked. “Are you talking about one of those holy men who walk around the streets half crazy, mumbling to themselves?”

         “He was wise, not crazy,” the Dominican said. “He never said Rosicrucian, he said the Ancient Mystical Order Rosae Crucis. It made you feel respect for it. It arose in ancient Egypt, in the pharaohs’ days, as a secret brotherhood, hermetic, and it survived through the centuries outside the public eye. It’s widespread in the Orient and in Europe, so they say. Nobody here knows what it is. Not in the Dominican Republic, either.” 26

         “So you are or aren’t a Rosicrucian?”

         “I don’t know if I am or not,” the Dominican said, abashed. “I never had time to learn about it. I just saw Brother Cristóbal a couple of times. But it left an impression on me. From what I heard, it seemed like the religion or philosophy that suited me best. It gave you a great deal of peace and didn’t meddle around in people’s private lives. And when he spoke, he transmitted something: tranquility.”

         “Honestly, you’re a strange bird,” Enrique said. “And I’m not talking just about your vices.”

         “As far as religion and the soul go, I’ll give you that,” the Dominican said. “A man who’s different from the others. I am, and I’m honored to be so.”
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         I need a drink, he thought. And he wriggled away from the embraces, his ears tormented by shouts of Viva! and loudspeakers chanting his name, whispered to María Vilanova—“I have to go to the bathroom”—and pushed his way through the people on the balcony and back into the Palace. He ran to the office he had occupied as Arévalo’s minister of defense. After locking the door, he hurried over to the cabinet behind his desk, where he kept his whiskey locked up. His pulse racing uncontrollably, he opened it and poured a glass half full. His body was quivering, especially his hands. He had to clutch the glass in all ten fingers to keep it from falling and splashing whiskey all over his pants. You’re an alcoholic, he thought, scared. You’re killing yourself, you’ll wind up like your father. You can’t let that happen.

         For Jacobo Árbenz Guzmán, the suicide of his father, a Swiss pharmacist residing in Quetzaltenango, the mountainous highlands region in the west of Guatemala where he was born on September 14, 1913, was an unfathomable mystery. Why did he do it? Were things going badly at the pharmacy? Did he have debts? Was he 28 bankrupt? His father was an immigrant who established himself in those hills still bearing traces of their Mayan heritage and married a local teacher, Miss Octavia Guzmán Caballeros, who always kept the reason her husband took his life hidden from her son (and perhaps didn’t know it herself); only years later would Árbenz discover that his father, an inscrutable man, was suffering from a duodenal ulcer and gave himself morphine injections to combat the pain.

         Why did he not drink the glass of whiskey he clutched in his hands, for which he had been yearning for so long? It frightened him that he’d spent the entire victory ceremony obsessed with having a drink. Am I already an alcoholic? he asked himself again. With all the work he had ahead of him! With the hope so many Guatemalans had invested in him! Was he going to disappoint them with his miserable craving for liquor? And yet, even if he couldn’t drink it, he also couldn’t bring himself to pour the glass of whiskey he held, slightly trembling, in his hands, down the sink.

         As a boy, as a teenager, Jacobo had lived there in the highlands, where the Indians languished in poverty and were bled mercilessly by the landowners, and from an early age he realized Guatemala had major social problems with inequality, exploitation, and poverty; but later, he would say it was only thanks to his wife, the Salvadoran María Cristina Vilanova, that he became a man of the left.

         From a young age, he was passionate about sports—gymnastics, swimming, soccer, horseback riding—and it was probably for this reason that he chose a military career. His family’s difficult economic situation after his father’s death likely played an important role as well.

         Even as a boy, he stood out for his good looks, his academic brilliance, and his athletic achievements, as well as for his long silences and the subdued, retiring, and austere character he had inherited from his father. When he entered the Politécnica, Guatemala’s military academy, with top exam scores, midway through 1932, he was spoken of as a young man with a promising future. The cadets were given ranks during their years of study; Árbenz attained first sergeant, the highest in the Politécnica’s history. He became the cadets’ standard-bearer and a champion boxer. 29

         Was it there that he discovered his predilection for drinking? He recalled that it was the main diversion of the cadets as well as the officers and their subordinates. What his classmates and teachers valued most highly were neither good grades nor an impeccable service record, but an ability to hold one’s liquor. Morons, he thought.

         He was still a schoolboy when he met the beautiful and intelligent María Cristina Vilanova. She had come to Guatemala for a visit, and they were introduced at a fair held on November 11 in honor of the reigning dictator, General Jorge Ubico Castañeda. Árbenz was very pale that day, because he had just left the hospital after a motorcycle accident. There was a mutual attraction, and when the girl returned to San Salvador, they wrote each other feverish declarations of love. In her brief autobiography, she tells how they spoke during their courtship of romance, but also of more serious subjects, “like chemistry and physics.” María Cristina, born in 1915, belonged to one of the so-called fourteen families of El Salvador; she had studied in the United States, at the College of Notre Dame de Namur in Belmont, California, she spoke English and French, and she would have gone on to university if she’d been allowed, but it was forbidden since, according to the prejudices of the time, a decent girl didn’t do such things. She supplemented her studies with reading, with a passion for literature, politics, and the arts. She was a restless young woman with progressive ideas, worried by economic and social conditions in Central America, and she spent her free hours painting. Despite resistance from María Cristina’s family, she and Jacobo Árbenz decided to marry, and did so soon after he had received the rank of second lieutenant. They took their vows in the church in March of 1939. To do so, the groom had to confess and take his first communion—his education had been secular up to that point. As a wedding present, the couple received a villa from María’s family, Finca El Cajón in the town of Santa Lucía Cotzumalguapa in the Escuintla Department.

         María, of course, was the first to notice his penchant transforming to a vice. How many times did he hear his wife say, “That’s enough, Jacobo! You’re slurring your words, don’t drink any more!” And he always obeyed. 30

         The marriage was a happy one, and María Cristina’s culture and sensitivity had a deep effect on the young officer. She brought him into the orbit of intellectuals, writers, journalists, and artists from Guatemala and elsewhere in Central America whom he wouldn’t have known otherwise; among them were more than a few who called themselves socialists and radicals, people who railed against the military dictatorships (like General Ubico’s) spreading through Central American countries, who wanted democracy for Guatemala, with free elections, freedom of the press, political parties, and reforms that would raise the Indians from the servile position they’d been forced into since colonial times. The problem with these artists and intellectuals, he thought, was they all had the same taste for drink as he; he learned a great deal in his meetings with them, but they nearly always ended in drunken revels. He went on staring, hypnotized, at the slightly yellowish liquid in his hands.

         María Cristina would be roundly criticized later for having consorted with two foreign women reputed to be communists during their time in Guatemala: the Chilean Bravo Letelier, who would later become her secretary, and the Salvadoran Matilde Elena López. But she was not a woman to let sniping intimidate her, she did as she liked without caring what others said, and that part of her personality was what her husband most admired about her. He hadn’t yet thrown his whiskey in the sink, but he hadn’t drunk it either. His thoughts were elsewhere, but his eyes were focused on the drink. Outside, in Constitution Plaza, the hurrahs and the loudspeakers went on calling his name.

         Jacobo Árbenz and María Vilanova had three children, two girls and a boy: Arabella, born in 1940, María Leonora in 1942, and Juan Jacobo in 1946. She accompanied her husband through his career as an official at the various military installations where he served, in places like San Juan Sacatepéquez and San José Castle. Those were years when his prestige grew, and with it, his status as a leader among his comrades in arms. She was delighted when recognition came to him in the capital, at the Glorious and Centenary Polytechnic School, where he was appointed captain, overseeing a company of cadets, and later made professor of science and history. 31

         They lived for a long time in boardinghouses, because his modest income of seventy dollars a month didn’t suffice to rent an apartment; but in time, with his various promotions, they were able to take up residence in Villa Pomona, on the corner of Calle Montúfar and Avenida de la Reforma, surrounded by stands of tall trees in a yard ample enough to give them the feeling of living in the country. There they continued meeting with the same group of artists and intellectuals, many of whom had been persecuted and even sent into prison or exile for their political ideas, among them Carlos Manuel Pellecer, who would pass through the Military Academy and go into exile in Mexico for opposing the Ubico government, and José Manuel Fortuny, the journalist, politician, and graduate of the Escuela Normal Para Varones, who would go on to direct the PAR (Revolutionary Action Party), a leftist academic movement, before cofounding the communist Guatemalan Party of Labor.

         But I never got drunk, vomited, or made a scandal like so many of the losers I knew when they downed a few too many, he thought. No one ever noticed he was drunk. He had a talent for covering it up. And he would stop drinking when he felt that tingle in his head and noticed he couldn’t pronounce his words without swallowing a letter or drawing out the vowels. He would fall silent and wait there tranquilly, neither moving nor taking part in the chitchat or discussions, until that invasive tingle slowly died away.

         General Jorge Ubico Castañeda remained thirteen years in power, until 1944. Prior to the Second World War, he had shown clear sympathy for Hitler and the Nazis. He recognized Franco’s government in the midst of the Spanish Civil War, and more than once he had attended gatherings held by the Falangists in their blue uniforms, throwing up the fascist salute, in front of the Spanish Embassy in Guatemala. But he was prudent and an opportunist, and was among the first to break off relations with Germany at the outbreak of WWII, and to ingratiate himself with the United States, he even issued a declaration of war.

         The year 1944 marked the beginning of protests against the dictatorship in Guatemala. The first to participate were the students 32 from the venerable San Carlos University, and for the most part, public opinion, the workers, the field hands, and the young would follow suit in due time. Then-captain Jacobo Árbenz was one of the most influential military men to persuade the army to request the dictator’s resignation; later, when Ubico stepped down and left the government in the hands of General Federico Ponce Vaides, who threatened to follow in his predecessor’s footsteps, Árbenz pushed them to rebel against this intrigue. Ponce Vaides resigned after substantial popular protests against succession by appointment and the decisive intervention of the army, encouraged by two officers, Major Francisco Javier Arana and Captain Jacobo Árbenz, to support the uprising against the dictatorship. A junta was then established, composed of the two soldiers Arana and Árbenz and a civilian, the businessman Jorge Toriello. As agreed, the junta convened a constitutional assembly and organized elections for the presidency and congress. These were the first genuinely democratic elections in Guatemala’s history. The movement that made them possible would come to be known in the future as the October Revolution, and it ushered in a new era in the country. The winner of the elections was a distinguished (albeit deeply vain) educator and thinker, Juan José Arévalo. He had been living in Argentina in exile, and when he returned to Guatemala to announce his candidacy on September 3, 1944, he was received with immense jubilation. His victory over General Federico Ponce Vaides was devastating, with 85 percent of the electorate voting in his favor.
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